IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 89,526

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0754773

Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Southern Region 1444 Biscayne Boulevard - Suite 202 Miami, FL 33132 (305) 377-3580

COUNSEL FOR MR. LIGHTBOURNE

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Lightbourne's motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

"R" -- record on appeal to this Court;

"PC-R" -- record on 3.850 appeal to this Court following the 1990-91 evidentiary hearings;

"PC-R2" -- record on 3.850 appeal to this Court following the 1995-96 evidentiary hearings;

"PC-R2. Sup." -- supplemental record on 3.850 appeal;

"Def. Exh. ____" -- defense exhibits.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Lightbourne has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will therefore determine whether he lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Lightbourne, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PRELIMINA	RY STATEMENT
REQUEST F	OR ORAL ARGUMENT
TABLE OF	CONTENTS ii
TABLE OF	AUTHORITIES iv
STATEMEN	T OF THE CASE 1
STATEMEN	T OF THE FACTS
A. INTROD	UCTION
B. THE TRI	AL RECORD 4
C. THE 1990	EVIDENTIARY HEARINGS
D. THE 1995	5 EVIDENTIARY HEARING
SUMMARY	OF ARGUMENT 48
ARGUMENT	ſI
HEAR OFFE PRES OPPC	LIGHTBOURNE WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO A FULL AND FAIR RING WHEN THE CIRCUIT COURT EXCLUDED RELEVANT EVIDENCE RED BY MR. LIGHTBOURNE AND ALLOWED THE STATE TO ENT WITNESSES BUT DENIED MR. LIGHTBOURNE THE PROPERTY OF THE CONDUCT EFFECTIVE CROSS-EXAMINATION AND TO ENT HIS OWN WITNESSES ON THE SAME SUBJECT
В.	THE CIRCUIT COURT DENIED MR. LIGHTBOURNE A FULL AND FAIR HEARING WHEN IT REOPENED THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING FOR THE LIMITED PURPOSE OF ACCEPTING EVIDENCE FROM THE STATE BUT DEPRIVED MR. LIGHTBOURNE AN OPPORTUNITY TO PRESENT RELEVANT EVIDENCE ON THE SAME ISSUES AND TO EFFECTIVELY CROSS-EXAMINE THE STATE'S WITNESSES

ARGUMENT II

Bl A	IR. LIGHTBOURNE WAS DENIED A FAIR ADVERSARIAL TESTING ECAUSE THE STATE WITHHELD MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE ND PRESENTED FALSE TESTIMONY IN VIOLATION OF MR. IGHTBOURNE'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS 60
ARGUM	ENT III
L	EWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT MR. IGHTBOURNE'S DEATH SENTENCE IS UNRELIABLE AND THAT HE IS HEREFORE ENTITLED TO A NEW SENTENCING
A	. THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT WAS NOT PREVIOUSLY AVAILABLE IN POST-CONVICTION 71
В	THE PREVIOUSLY UNAVAILABLE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT MR. LIGHTBOURNE IS ENTITLED TO A NEW SENTENCING
C	. CONCLUSION
ARGUM	ENT IV
M C	HE CIRCUIT COURT APPLIED THE WRONG STANDARD IN REVIEWING IR. LIGHTBOURNE'S CLAIMS AND FAILED TO CONSIDER THE UMULATIVE EFFECT OF ALL THE EVIDENCE DISCOVERED SINCE MR. IGHTBOURNE'S TRIAL
ARGUM	ENT V
PI ST BI	IR. LIGHTBOURNE'S RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL ROTECTION WERE VIOLATED BY THE PARTICIPATION OF ASSISTANT FATE ATTORNEY REGINALD BLACK AS COUNSEL FOR THE STATE ECAUSE MR. BLACK IS A NECESSARY AND MATERIAL WITNESS TO MR. IGHTBOURNE'S CLAIMS REGARDING MR. EMANUEL

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Battle v. Delo, 64 F.3d 347 (8th Cir. 1995)
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)
Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284 (1973)
Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967)
Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992)
Garcia v. State, 622 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993)
Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972)
Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1995)
Jean v. Rice, 945 F.2d 82 (4th Cir. 1991)
Johnson v. Singletary, 647 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1994)
Johnson v. Singletary, 938 F.2d 1166 (11th Cir. 1991)
Jones v. Butterworth, 695 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 1997)
Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991)
Kyles v. Whitley, 115 S. Ct. 1555 (1995)
Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989)
Lightbourne v. Dugger, 829 F.2d 1012 (11th Cir. 1987) 6
Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983)
Lightbourne v. State, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985)
Lightbourne v. State, 644 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 1994)
Massiah v. United States, 377 U.S. 201 (1964)
Middleton v. Evatt, 77 F.3d 469 (4th Cir. 1996)
Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959)
Ouimette v. Moran, 942 F.2d 1 (1st Cir. 1991)

Ramírez v. State, 651 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 1995)
Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333 (1992)
Scull v. State, 569 So. 2d 1251 (Fla. 1990)
Smith v. Wainwright, 799 F.2d 1442 (11th Cir. 1986)
Stano v. Dugger, 901 F.2d 898 (11th Cir. 1990) 69
State v. Christopher, 623 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993)
State v. Gunsby, 670 So. 2d 920 (1994)
Swafford v. State, 679 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996)
United States v. Agurs, 478 U.S. 97 (1976)
United States v. Arnold, 117 F.3d 1308 (11th Cir. 1997) 69, 73
United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985)
United States v. Bigham, 812 F.2d 943 (5th Cir. 1987)
United States v. Burgos, 94 F.3d 849 (4th Cir. 1996)
United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264 (1980)
United States v. Hosford, 782 F.2d 936 (11th Cir. 1986) 91
United States v. Rivenbark, 81 F.3d 152 (4th Cir. 1996)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Lightbourne was convicted of first-degree murder in the circuit court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Marion County (R. 1436), and was sentenced to death (R. 1500). This Court affirmed on direct appeal over two dissenting votes. <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983). Justice McDonald dissented from the affirmance of the death sentence without a written opinion. Justice Overton dissented from the affirmance of the conviction on the basis of <u>United States v. Henry</u>, 447 U.S. 264 (1980). Justice Overton wrote:

A jailhouse informer was placed in a cell adjacent to appellant's and was requested to keep his ears open. The investigating officer understood that the informant expected something in return for his information, and the informant was paid two hundred dollars in cash, in addition to being released nineteen days early in return for his services.

438 So. 2d at 392. The majority rejected Justice Overton's position: "Without some promise or guarantee of compensation, some overt scheme in which the State took part, or some other evidence of prearrangement aimed at discovering incriminating information we are unwilling to elevate the State's actions in this case to an agency relationship with the informant Chavers." 438 So. 2d at 386.

Mr. Lightbourne filed a Rule 3.850 motion on May 31, 1985. The motion was denied and this Court affirmed. <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1985). Justices Overton, McDonald, and Shaw dissented. Lightbourne filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in federal district court. That petition was denied, and the denial was affirmed on appeal. <u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u>, 829 F.2d 1012 (11th Cir. 1987).

On January 30, 1989, Mr. Lightbourne filed a second Rule 3.850 motion and petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court. The Rule 3.850 motion was denied. This Court reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Lightbourne's claim that the State had violated Brady v. Maryland, but denied habeas relief. Lightbourne v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989). The majority found Mr. Lightbourne's judicial bias claim procedurally barred. This claim was premised upon the sentencing judge's undisclosed receipt of in-kind gifts from the victim's family which exceeded \$2000 in value. Justices Barkett, Shaw, and Kogan dissented as to this issue.

Evidentiary hearings were held in circuit court in 1990. On April 17, 1991, Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion to reopen the evidentiary hearing, which was granted. An additional evidentiary hearing was conducted. The circuit court denied relief on June 12, 1992, and Mr. Lightbourne appealed. After the issuance of Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), Mr. Lightbourne filed a third Rule 3.850 motion. On February 1, 1993, this Court granted Mr. Lightbourne's request to relinquish jurisdiction to allow the circuit court to consider the Rule 3.850 motion. On March 15, 1993, the circuit court denied relief. This Court affirmed. Lightbourne v. State, 644 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 1994).

On November 7, 1994, Mr. Lightbourne filed his fourth Rule 3.850 motion requesting another evidentiary hearing to present additional evidence in support of his <u>Brady</u> claim. A hearing was held on October 23 and 24, 1995. On February 23, 1996, Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion to reopen the hearing to present additional testimony and a motion to disqualify the state attorney. The circuit court held a hearing on these motions on

March 15, 1996, and denied both motions. The circuit court denied relief on June 19, 1996.

Mr. Lightbourne filed a motion for reconsideration which was denied. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. INTRODUCTION

Mr. Lightbourne was convicted and sentenced to death largely on the basis of the testimony of two jailhouse informants: Theodore "Uncle Nut" Chavers and Theophilus Carson, aka James Gallman. Both of these inmates, according to their trial testimony, contacted law enforcement officials on their own initiative after Mr. Lightbourne made spontaneous, unsolicited incriminating statements. Both Mr. Chavers and Mr. Gallman/Carson testified that they had not received any benefits in exchange for their testimony and that they had not been instructed by the police or prosecution prior to their meetings with Mr. Lightbourne. The State presented its witnesses as concerned citizens who were fortuitously present when Mr. Lightbourne made incriminating admissions and were then prompted by their consciences to contact the authorities and ultimately testify.

Evidence has been discovered since Mr. Lightbourne's trial indicating that Mr. Chavers and Mr. Gallman/Carson were agents of the State who were deliberately placed in Mr. Lightbourne's cell and instructed to elicit incriminating statements from him. Both were promised assistance on their pending charges in exchange for their cooperation. Both have indicated that Mr. Lightbourne never made the statements to which Mr. Chavers and Mr. Gallman/Carson testified and that these witnesses were briefed on the case before they even attempted to elicit admissions from Mr. Lightbourne. In short, the State failed to disclose

material exculpatory evidence, and in fact, the State used this false testimony to mislead the jury and obtain a conviction and sentence of death.

The State withheld material exculpatory evidence regarding the benefits received by Mr. Chavers and Mr. Gallman/Carson that would have allowed the defense to impeach their credibility by showing the jury why they were testifying against Mr. Lightbourne. In addition, the State withheld evidence that other pretrial cellmates told law enforcement officials that Mr. Lightbourne denied any involvement in the O'Farrell murder and that Mr. Chavers was actively soliciting other cellmates to provide false evidence against Mr. Lightbourne. As a result of the State's misconduct, the jury that convicted Mr. Lightbourne and sentenced him to death was misled by false testimony and deprived of relevant impeachment evidence that would have explained these witnesses' true motivation for testifying against Mr. Lightbourne.

B. THE TRIAL RECORD

Mr. Lightbourne was convicted and sentenced to death for the murder of Nancy O'Farrell. Ms. O'Farrell was found shot to death in her home at the Ocala Stud Farm on January 17, 1981.² Law enforcement investigated her death but developed no apparent

¹Also as a result of the State's misconduct, Mr. Lightbourne's attorney on direct appeal was deprived of evidence necessary to support his claim that the State had committed a <u>Henry</u> violation. A majority of this Court on direct appeal erroneously rejected Justice Overton's dissenting position that <u>United States v. Henry</u> was violated.

²It was from this stud farm that the sentencing judge received the undisclosed gifts at issue in this Court's 1989 opinion; by a four to three vote, this Court found the judicial bias issue procedurally barred.

leads. On January 24, 1981, Mr. Lightbourne was arrested on a charge of carrying a concealed weapon and was placed in the Marion County Jail. On January 26, 1981, the public defender's office was appointed to represent Mr. Lightbourne.

On January 28, 1981, Lieutenant Fred La Torre, the lead investigator in the O'Farrell homicide, interviewed Cathleen Gifford, an employee of the Ocala Stud Farm. Ms. Gifford was asked whether any of the farm workers carried weapons. She responded that most of the workers carry weapons and that her former boyfriend, Ian Lightbourne, was currently in jail on a weapons charge (PC-R. 2428-29). The very next day, Theodore Chavers was transferred into Mr. Lightbourne's cell. Mr. Chavers testified at Mr. Lightbourne's trial that he was transferred because he asked to be in a cell where he could watch television (R. 1107).³

Mr. Chavers testified that he and Mr. Lightbourne talked about the O'Farrell murder case and, because Mr. Lightbourne "knew too much" about the case, Mr. Chavers contacted Lieutenant La Torre of the Marion County Sheriff's Office and suggested that Mr. Lightbourne might be guilty (R. 1113). Mr. Chavers insisted that he did not speak with law enforcement agents before talking to Mr. Lightbourne, yet he stated that he initially suspected that Mr. Lightbourne was guilty because he knew more than the investigators, implying that Mr. Chavers had already spoken to the police (R. 1112). Defense counsel tried to explore this inconsistency on cross-examination but was frustrated by Mr. Chavers' evasive and nonresponsive answers:

³It was on the basis of this testimony and the absence of any contradictory evidence that the majority of this Court rejected Mr. Lightbourne's <u>United States v. Henry</u> claim on direct appeal.

- Q You said that you became suspicious because Mr. Lightbourne knew more than the investigator; right?
 - A He told me every detail.
 - Q How did you know what the details were?
 - A From him.
 - Q How did you know what the investigators knew?
 - A How did I know what the investigators knew?
 - Q Yes.
 - A I didn't know; Lightbourne said.
- Q Okay. How did you know, then, he knew more than they did?
 - A Wait a minute; say what?
- (R. 1124-25). When asked directly whether the investigators knew the details he allegedly learned from Mr. Lightbourne, Mr. Chavers responded: "I do not know. I'm not no investigator." (R. 1125).
- Mr. Chavers testified that Mr. Lightbourne did not confess to killing Ms. O'Farrell but that he was in her house that night:
 - A He said that Ms. O'Farrell was coming out of either the shower and by him being in and her being alone and not knowing anyone was in the house, it was -- he surprised her and she surprised him, you know, and --
 - Q Let me back up a second. Did he tell you how he got in the house?
 - A No, he didn't tell me how he got in.
 - Q All right, but he just mentioned he was in the house and he surprised her?

- A Yes, sir.
- Q All right; go on. What did he tell you after that?
- A He told me about -- he told her that he wasn't going to hurt her, and he performed sex acts with her, and he also told me about -- you know, well, after Mr. LaTorre done formally charged him that afternoon and took his picture and fingerprinted him, he came back in the cell and made a statement as Ms. O'Farrell having a big vagina. So I asked him how would you know that Ms. O'Farrell had a big vagina, not unlessen you had intercourse with her.
 - Q And what did he say about that?
 - A Wasn't nothing he could say.
- Q All right. Did he describe for you any portion of the sexual act?
 - A Yeah, about when he had her on the floor.
 - Q Did he tell you what happened on the floor?
 - A Well, he had oral sex.
 - Q All right. How did he describe that to you?
- A Well, he just described it to me that she was -- she begging him not to kill her, and he told her he wasn't going to kill her, and they had sex. He told her to get on the bed. She -- they had oral sex, you know, over and over.

(R. 1115-16).

Mr. Chavers testified that everything he knew about the offense came from Mr. Lightbourne (R. 1124, 1144) and that he had not met with prosecutors except to discuss his own pending charges (R. 1165). Mr. Chavers also testified that he was not promised anything (R. 1124) and that he was released on February 10, 1981, only nineteen days before completing his sentence (R. 1119). Although Mr. Chavers had three other charges pending

when he was released, he testified that he was released on his own recognizance on one of those charges, that he had posted a \$5,000 bond on the others, and that trial was still pending on all three charges (R. 1165).

The evidence provided by the State to defense counsel pretrial was consistent with Mr. Chavers' trial testimony. In transcribed statements given to Lieutenant La Torre, Mr. Chavers recited information that he had supposedly gotten from Mr. Lightbourne (Def. Exhs. 4, 5) and stated that he had not spoken to Detective La Torre before his conversations with Mr. Lightbourne (PC-R. 2418). At his deposition, Mr. Chavers similarly testified that he was prompted to approach Lieutenant La Torre after Mr. Lightbourne made incriminating statements (R. 1421-22). Mr. Lightbourne's attorneys attempted to explore Mr. Chavers' relationship with the police and his motivation for testifying against Mr. Lightbourne, but Mr. Chavers' account was that there was no agency relationship, no promises, no rewards, no coaching.

Theophilus Carson, aka James Gallman, testified at Mr. Lightbourne's trial that he also had been in the same cell with Mr. Lightbourne, though not at the same time as Mr. Chavers, and that he heard Mr. Lightbourne confess to the O'Farrell murder (R. 1179). Mr. Gallman/Carson provided additional details: "he had took some money from the lady and he had sex with her. He made her have sex with him" and that "she screamed, hollered" when he entered the house (R. 1176-78). Mr. Gallman/Carson also testified that Mr. Lightbourne said he shot Ms. O'Farrell because she could identify him (R. 1180). Mr. Gallman/Carson contacted the Ocala Police Department and was referred to Bob Joyner who referred him to Lieutenant La Torre (R. 1181). Mr. Gallman/Carson testified that he was arrested in

November on an accessory to grand theft charge and that he was released on March 3, 1981, because the State had insufficient evidence against him (Id.). Significantly, after more than three months in jail, Mr. Gallman/Carson was suddenly released approximately one week after providing evidence against Mr. Lightbourne (R. 1195). However, he testified that he had worked out a plea agreement by which he would receive time served before providing information against Mr. Lightbourne; he explained that "we had a plea bargain before all this occurred. All right. This was about -- before I talked to Lightbourn[e]. This was about a week -- they had come to me with time served." (PC-R. 1180-81).

Together, Mr. Chavers and Mr. Gallman/Carson provided the only evidence supporting the aggravating factors used to sentence Mr. Lightbourne to death, as well as highly prejudicial details that made a guilty conviction more likely. During his opening statement, Assistant State Attorney Albert Simmons reviewed the physical evidence and then provided a preview of Mr. Chavers and Mr. Gallman/Carson:

Now, so far all we've got is circumstantial, scientific type evidence, but we have several other witnesses, Ladies and Gentlemen, and I certainly haven't made reference to all of the witnesses that we're going to have. We're going to have several other very interesting witnesses. These individuals consist of people who were cell mates of the Defendant while he was incarcerated. One of those individuals, Ladies and Gentlemen, will tell you that the Defendant made statements and admissions to him not only about his involvement in this matter but he will tell you that the Defendant told him how he had Miss O'Farrell crawling around on the floor and sucking his penis.

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