FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

APR 20 1998

IAN DECO LIGHTBOURNE,

CLERK, SURREME COURT ₽y_ puty Cierk bhter D

Appellant,

v.

Case #: 89,526

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK S. DUNN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #0471852

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-4580

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The trial court accepted Emanuel's 2/20/96 deposition for the **limited purpose** of viewing it as an adjunct to ruling on his motion to reopen evidentiary hearing. (II/207) In the afternoon session, the trial court denied Lightbourne's motion to disqualify the State Attorney, and his motion to reopen the evidentiary hearing (II/231).

The trial court allowed the State to call two witnesses, Ken Raym and Edward Scott, "for the *limited purpose* of rebutting evidence in the record in the depo of Emanuel..." (II/231-32). Just before the trial court's ruling, Mr. Black explained the necessity of their testimony as follows:

... if the Court rules that Larry Emanuel's testimony in any fashion is procedurally barred, this deposition is still attached, although for

very limited purposes, in support of the argument on this motion to reopen. 38

It's still attached to the record here. And I will guarantee you, Judge, if this record goes up on appeal with this deposition attached even for that limited purpose, CCR will argue and some appellate judge reading this deposition will say: "These are pretty serious matters and the State back then did not discover this to the Defendant. We're sending this back for other and further evidentiary hearings." So we'll be back in this court before you next year, perhaps a year after that.

I think we ought to be allowed for the purpose -for the same purpose, supporting our opposition to the motion to reopen, to have the evidence of Deputies Raym and Scott as to the substance of this deposition.³⁹ (II/230-31)

Ken Raym testified he was a Marion County Deputy in 1981, and he knew of Emanuel because his name had come up during his investigation of a string of burglaries (II/235). Raym had nothing to do with the investigation of the O'Farrell murder, or with the arrest of Lightbourne (II/236). He never had Emanuel placed in Lightbourne's cell as a "listening post," or to interrogate him (II/237, 241).

Edward Scott was a Marion County Deputy in 1981 as well (II/243). He was Raym's partner and involved in the burglary investigations (II/243). He thought he had charged Emanuel with a

³⁸ In fact, Emanuel's deposition appears **three** different times in the record (I/5-69; VII/992-1056; SR/111-175).

³⁹ Given CCR's track record of piecemeal litigation, the State was well-advised to make a record when it could. *See e.g., Jones* v. *State*, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S137 (March 17, 1998).

couple of burglaries (II/244). He had no connection to the investigation and arrest of Lightbourne for the O'Farrell murder (II/244). He never placed Emanuel in Lightbourne's cell as a listening post, nor was it ever done in his presence.

A. <u>There was a Full and Fair Hearing on Counsels' Attempts</u> to Locate Emanuel.

First, the trial court determined that Emanuel was "easily available to the Defendant to have obtained his testimony not only since 1990, September of 1990, but since before the trial in 1981." (IV/641-42) Accordingly, the trial court ruled "the defense should be **barred** from presenting testimony from this witness," and granted the State's motion to strike Mr. Burke's and Mr. Fox's proffered testimony as to Emanuel's affidavit (IV/641-42).

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 provided, in 1995, that a post-conviction motion in a capital case could be filed outside the two-year time limitation if "the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence."⁴⁰ Lightbourne was unable to meet either requirement. See Stano v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S178 (Fla. March 20, 1998); Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1996). Emanuel was known to the defense before Lightbourne's 1981 trial, in that they shared a cell.⁴¹ The State demonstrated

⁴⁰ R. 3.850 now imposes a one-year limitation.

⁴¹ Although Emanuel did not testify at Lightbourne's trial, Theodore Chavers, who had been deposed by defense trial counsel,

that Emanuel's whereabouts could have been determined through due diligence by requesting his criminal history from FDLE before September, 1994, or from the State Attorney's Office.

Lightbourne argues at p. 51 that the trial court violated his due process rights by refusing to consider relevant testimony regarding counsel's efforts to locate Emanuel. Although he never specifically identifies exactly what that relevant testimony was, the State assumes he is referring to that of Emanuel himself as to his whereabouts, as seen in his deposition. Yet, James Crawford, Lightbourne's present counsel, Martin McClain, and Thomas Dunn testified as to their attempts to locate Emanuel (III/517-23; IV/558-63; IV/576-98).

However, Lightbourne, contrary to his assertion at p. 54 of his brief, did not present unrebutted evidence at the October, 1995, hearing and through Emanuel's deposition, "that collateral counsel had exercised due diligence and that Mr. Emanuel was unavailable." In fact, Mr. McClain testified that to obtain a NCIC printout, "we would have to rely on the State to provide it." (IV/567-68) He further admitted, that CCR had made such a request on more than one occasion (IV/568). Despite these admissions, Lightbourne argues that he "has proved that, contrary to the State's assertions, NCIC records are not available to CCR."

testified that he, Rick Carnegia, Larry Emanuel, and others shared a cell (OR/1107).

Lightbourne's repeated assertions, both below and now, that he did not have access to NCIC information, is refuted by Mr. McClain's admission that he could obtain such information from the State, and that he had in fact made such requests in the past.

Mr. McClain's admissions echoed Mr. Black's argument below:

MR. BLACK: They can -- well, they make public records demands all the time for all kind[s] of records. And they can certainly do it of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, which is a government agency. They can do it of the State Attorney's Office, which is a government agency.

THE COURT: To get NCIC records? MR. BLACK: If we have them, yes, sir. Yes, sir. MR. STRAND: Judge, if I--MR. BLACK: We had them.⁴²

MR. STRAND: If I could, there's no evidence on the record that we made a request for NCIC records and, in fact, it never happened. We asked for the FDLE rapsheet, which is the only thing available to us.

MR. BLACK: Your Honor, in addition to the process I just described, at any time any defense can move the court to order an exposition of any potential witness' criminal record.

And upon good grounds and good cause shown, the Court can order that material to be produced by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement or any other police agency, including the State Attorney's Offices.

⁴² Mr. Black's representation here, when viewed in light of his subsequent argument (II/220), was not that the State Attorney's Office specifically had Emanuel's NCIC printout, rather that such printouts were available to it.

And it would clearly show not only disposition of cases against such individuals, but their location, where they are, where they were, where they're housed in some type of custodial facility. And they didn't do any of that over those years. (IV/638-39).

In fact, Mr. Dunn admitted that no request was ever made of Mr. Black to assist in finding Emanuel, nor did Mr. Black ever act as an obstructionist or in an uncooperative fashion (IV/598-99). Counsel now attempts to lay the blame on Mr. Black for not providing collateral counsel with Emanuel's whereabouts in 1990.⁴³ The fact was, as admitted by Mr. McClain, and Mr. Dunn, Emanuel was not a top priority witness back in 1990 because he did not testify at Lightbourne's trial (IV/572, 582). Understandably, Mr. Black's interest in Emanuel was even less than that expressed by Mr. McClain and Mr. Dunn:

But, Judge, counsel argues that we had all this information back in 1991, 1990 and 1991.⁴⁴ No, sir, we did not. We were not out looking for Larry Emanuel. We could care less about him back then and we could care less about him right now because he was never a witness in the Lightbourne case.

He had nothing to do with the Lightbourne case. We weren't looking for him and they never asked us to help them find him either. So we didn't have any of the information about where he was back in 1990 and 1991. We only gathered that together

⁴³ "While the state cannot withhold material evidence favorable to the accused, it is not the state's duty to actively assist the defense in investigating the case." *Hansbrough v. State*, 509 So.2d 1081, 1084 (Fla. 1987). This is especially true of an individual who was not even a witness in Lightbourne's trial.

⁴⁴ That which was provided by Karen Combs.

after they postured him as a witness here beginning in late 1994 and 1995.

Then we went to work to find out where he had been, and we found that he was available to them had they simply asked: "See if you can find him for us." And they did ask FDLE in August of 1994. (II/220)

Lightbourne incorrectly represents on pp. 54-55 of his brief that the trial court "did not specifically resolve" the availability of Emanuel to collateral counsel in 1990, "relying instead upon its conclusion that trial counsel was not diligent." In fact the trial court found as follows:

> THE COURT: Based on the record that I have here, it seems to me that this witness was easily available to the Defendant to have obtained his testimony not only since 1990, September of 1990, but since before this trial in 1981. (IV/641-42)

Therefore, Lightbourne's argument pursuant to *State v. Gunsby*, 670 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1996), found at pp. 54-55 of his brief, as to the trial court's conclusion that Emanuel was known to both Mr. Burke and Mr. Fox at the time of Lightbourne's trial, is moot because collateral counsel as well did not exercise due diligence in attempting to locate Emanuel, and there is no constitutional right to effective collateral representation. In addition, *Gunsby*, of which this Court observed contained "unique circumstances" of cumulative error, is clearly distinguishable from this cause.

The fact that Emanuel was not a witness negates Lightbourne's contention that Mr. Burke and Mr. Fox were ineffective as well.⁴⁵ Effective representation by them would not have included investigating a non-testifying witness. However, if even Lightbourne's trial counsel were deficient in failing to interview Emanuel in 1981, which the State does not concede, he still must pass muster under the second prong of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), and prove prejudice. This he can't do because the jury had "ample information from which to assess [Chavers' and Gallmans'] credibility and weigh [their] testimony accordingly, see Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186, 198 (Fla. 1997)." Robinson v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S85, S87 (Fla. February 12, 1998).

Nonetheless, the trial court was entirely correct in finding Emanuel's availability to both Mr. Burke and Mr. Fox in 1981, given Mr. Fox's withdrawal from his representation, ostensibly because he was a potential witness in Lightbourne's trial (VII/955). In short, Lightbourne failed to demonstrate Emanuel was previously unavailable, both in 1981, and in 1990.

Buenoano v. State, 23 Fla. Law Weekly (March 26, 1998).

⁴⁵ This claim of ineffectiveness is procedurally barred.

Through the exercise of due diligence, [Lightbourne] could have raised them in prior in proceedings which [he] raised ineffective assistance claims, and [he] cannot continue to raise such claims in a piecemeal fashion. Pope v. State, 702 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1997); Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911 (Fla. 1991).

Lightbourne was allowed, and did present evidence, as to collateral counsel's attempts to locate Emanuel. Therefore, he received a full and fair hearing on this matter. Emanuel's deposition is merely cumulative to their testimony. It says nothing to refute the facts that back in 1990, he was not a high priority witness to them, and that they failed to request from the State a NCIC printout to determine his whereabouts, which Karen Comb's testimony demonstrated that they could have done. Given these facts, justice would not be served by remanding this cause for an evidentiary hearing on due diligence as Lightbourne requests. Such would only serve to further delay this cause.

Even if the trial court erred, it would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, given the cumulative nature of Emanuel's deposition, and evidence demonstrating his availability in 1981 and 1990. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Further, any information Emanuel provided was cumulative to that which Rick Carnegia testified to in 1990. See Lightbourne IV, 644 So.2d at 59, n.4. Finally, even if the trial court erred in not allowing Emanuel's deposition as substantive evidence on the issue of his availability, any information Emanuel provided is irrelevant to Lightbourne's trial because he never testified as a witness, as the record demonstrates and as acknowledged by Mr. Burke (OR; III/472).

B. <u>After The Trial Court Ruled Emanuel was Barred as a</u> <u>Witness, His Deposition was Taken and Made Part of the</u> <u>Record</u>.

On October 24, 1995, the trial court found Emanuel "was easily available to [Lightbourne] to have obtained his testimony not only since 1990, September of 1990, but since before his trial in 1981," therefore, "the defense should be barred from presenting testimony from this witness." (IV/641-42) Since Lightbourne could not establish that Emanuel's testimony qualified as newly discovered evidence, it was unnecessary for the trial court to reopen the evidence to hear his live testimony or to admit his deposition.

Lightbourne's assertion on p. 55 of his brief that "he was not provided adequate notice of the nature" of the March 15, 1996, hearing is belied by his own action in deposing Emanuel on February 20, 1996, in spite of the trial court's order that he was barred as a witness; and his February 26, 1996, "Motion to Reopen Evidentiary Hearing to Hear and consider the Testimony of Larry Emanuel or, in the Alternative, Admit into Evidence the Deposition of Larry Emanuel and Consider it Substantive Evidence." (I/1-3) In short, Lightbourne knew Emanuel's testimony was barred as of October 24, 1995, so he deposed him ostensibly as a proffer, but really for the purpose of presenting substantive evidence to this Court. He got through the back door that which he could not through the front.

He knew the State had to rebut the deposition which he placed in the record, and which he wanted the trial court to consider as substantive evidence. That was the whole purpose of the March 15, 1996, hearing. The rulings below were that the deposition was part

of the record only as a proffer, and the testimony of Ken Raym and Eddie Scott was proffered for the limited purpose of rebutting the deposition. The trial court did **not** reopen the evidentiary hearing.

The facts which follow demonstrate Lightbourne had every opportunity to call witnesses for the March 15, 1996, hearing, and that he was given adequate notice as to the substance of it. His motion established the parameters of the hearing when he requested in the alternative that the trial court allow Emanuel to testify or consider the deposition as substantive evidence, which the State was prepared to oppose on March 15th. Two weeks before that hearing Lightbourne knew the State intended to call Raym and Scott because he objected to their testifying (II/206-08).

It was his choice not to come prepared for that hearing, not the trial court's. See Scott v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S175 (Fla. March 26, 1998). Lightbourne's argument as to the State's adoption of inconsistent positions as cause for his failure to be prepared for the March 15th hearing is spurious. The State called Ken Raym and Eddie Scott as a proffer rebuttal to Emanuel's deposition, which he took after the trial court had ruled Emanuel was procedurally barred from testifying as a witness, and of whom he knew two weeks in advance of the hearing. In addition, Lightbourne never represented below, or in his brief, who he would have called to rebut their proffer.

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